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Evidence of the Great Rebuilding in Pirton
Submitted as coursework for “Discovering the landscape from the Black Death onwards” by Helen Hofton, December 2006
1. Introduction
The purpose of this essay is to find out whether there are any examples in the village of Pirton of the so-called “Great Rebuilding of Rural England” which took place between the end of the 16th and middle of the 17th centuries. 
It uses a case study approach focused on one house -- known as Crabtree House -- located in the centre of the village. It addresses and attempts to answer the following three questions:

1. Was Crabtree House part of the Great Rebuilding?

2. If so, was it part of the first or second rebuilding?

3. Was the house modernized, or newly built and if newly built, did it replace an existing house?
2. Background
Throughout the 14th and 15th centuries poorly constructed buildings still survived in most parts of the country and were a feature of most rural settlements. Towards the end of the 16th century, however, these older buildings were swept away in what W. G. Hoskins has termed the “rebuilding of rural England”.  The increasing wealth of the fifteenth century was acquired by a new class of society, the middling sort, who had not largely existed before. It was made up of newly rich tenant farmers who were able to build or rebuild houses to show off their wealth and status in a permanent way.

This idea of single Great Rebuilding confined to rural England between 1570 and 1640 was first put forward by the landscape historian W. G. Hoskins over 50 years ago
.  Often criticized for its broad-brush approach and narrow dating, the “Hoskins” model has been developed and refined since the 1950s.  Platt takes the debate further and argues for a second Great Rebuilding into town and country after the destruction of the Civil War
.  The first rebuilding saw medieval halls floored over, new chimneys and staircases inserted, and the introduction of glazed windows and new furnishings.
The changeover from building for limited life to building for an indefinite life is one of the aspects of what has come to be called the Great Rebuilding, a phenomenon which occurred between the late 16th century and the early 18th-century in most of England and Wales for people at the social level of the ordinary farmer. For people with the status of minor gentry, the changeover seems to have occurred two or three hundred years earlier. For poorer families, their cottages were built using more permanent materials from the mid-18th century onwards in much of the countryside
. 
The Great Rebuilding was not necessarily one of completely new construction.  It seems that sometimes the new house might have been built on earlier foundations, sometimes an obsolete plan was modernized in new construction, sometimes timber framed building of conventional plan was clad in newly available or newly fashionable materials, and sometimes the existing building was retained as a wing or appendage to a newly built house.

3. Research methodology

The questions themselves arose from the reading of secondary sources, most importantly the work of Hoskins, Taylor and Platt (Footnotes 1-3). The research methodology was to follow up a site visit and a structural survey, with an examination of primary sources and a review of other secondary sources. The evidence was then summarized under the following three headings:

· Location of the property
· The physical structure of the building both construction and plan.
· Documentary evidence, such as maps and plans, probate and finally manorial documents – rentals and rolls.
4. Evidence

 4.1 Location

Crabtree House has a significant position near the centre of the village opposite the Parish Church. It is a detached house with a north-south alignment, facing east fronting the Town Street. Pirton is typical of the villages of North Hertfordshire and is a nucleated settlement on the Midland Plain where the arable open field system was particularly strong and there was late enclosure. Enclosure often initiated a period of rapid social change, with the consolidation of landholdings, the building of new farmhouses away from the village in the former open fields, and the downgrading of surplus farmhouses into cottages.  In Pirton however all of the nine farmhouses in the parish are centrally sited rather than out in the fields. The village itself is situated at the centre of its parish. In 1818 when parliamentary enclosure took place, landowners were allotted blocks of land nearest to their farmhouses. Therefore, there was no need to re-site farmhouses for maximum efficiency. 
This means that it is not possible to use location as a definite indicator of the date of construction as all farmhouses were built in the centre of the village, not just those built before 1818.
4.2 Physical structure of the building 

The second set of evidence comes from its plan form. This is typical of a house of the early 17th Century
. A detailed examination of the structure, the original timber construction with the modern extensions stripped away, shows that the original structure plan was not a modified cross passage dwelling. The style of the carpentry is also of the period
. 

The house has been altered over the years and a rear extension added [fig 1a&b]. It is a rectangular box-frame timber building, of four bays including a cross wing, which is one-room deep. Currently there are three entrances, but after looking at the timber framing and alignment of the main chimney, it is possible to see the original plan of the farmhouse. It is a baffle-entry house, with the means of access leading into a lobby rather than straight into a room or cross passage. The chimney occupies a bay of its own and there are fireplaces in both lower and upper rooms. The projecting stair tower in the chimney bay is also part of the original building.  This indicates that the house has never been a hall house with a central hearth and must have been built in the 17th rather than the 16th century or earlier.  
In the Middle Ages, life was communal; the basic building structure was the open hall.  Even comparatively grand structures, such as manor houses, consisted mainly of a large open hall with a fire at the centre, with a smoke rising to the rafters and out through the thatched roof. Controlling the exit of smoke with a chimney had a major influence on domestic house design. Upper floors were inserted. There was an internal staircase, and the spaces were divided up into a number of smaller, ‘cosier’ rooms with fireplaces.

Crabtree House has three ground floor rooms and three rooms over. Brunskill states that in the three unit baffle entry house there is usually a kitchen/living room and parlour to one side of the entrance and kitchen, or heated parlour to the other side.  He also states that both plans developed particularly well in East Anglia during the 17th century.
 In the lowland zone, which includes Pirton, the open hall house and cross passage house designs were often replaced by the superior baffle-entry/lobby entrance farmhouse at the beginning of the 17th century.  This divided house appears to be the result of the changing social structure in farming.  Many of the earlier farms in the area were small.  Few men were employed other than relatives, and so those using the hall were all the same social status.  Consequently, in an undivided house, access to the parlour through the hall was of little importance because those using both hall and parlour were of the same social standing.  With the increased size of farms and employment of labour, it became desirable to have a separate entrance to the parlor, thus separating the family from the wage-earning labourers who would in most cases still use the hall for meals.
 Identifying the functions of a building’s rooms from the evidence of its structure is difficult, even if the plan is of the standard regional type
. This is more easily assessed from documentary evidence such as inventories where room names are sometimes given.
This evidence suggests that the original structure of the house was built early in the 17th century and that it was not an older house that was modified at this time.

4.3  Documentary evidence
Maps and plans

The obvious starting point for this part of the research was the first editions of the large-scale ordnance survey maps, at 25in to the mile, for which national surveys were carried out between 1853 and 1888.  The first published editions of the 1in to the mile ordnance survey maps showed too little detail to be much use for the study of building history, but it was possible to identify the property on the 25in ordnance survey map of 1881 [fig 2]. This showed a detached building standing within six thousand square metres of enclosed land with two small buildings, perhaps barns, fronting on to Town Street.  The Enclosure map of 1818 shows the house standing in the same acreage but with a considerable range of farm buildings [fig 3]. Perhaps the farm buildings became redundant during the nineteenth century. Further research using trade directories of 1832 -1880 showed the tenant as William Furr, butcher. Often dual economy was practised as small acreages [6 acres] were not enough to support single occupations (i.e. big barns were no longer necessary). 
This evidence suggests that at one time it was quite an important farmhouse, but that agricultural activity has dwindled after enclosure. There are no earlier maps to help with dating.

Ownership
Further evidence was gathered by tracing the ownership of the house. Until 1802 the farmhouse, a close, and six acres of land was copyhold to the Manor of Pirton, but in that year it became freehold although ownership did not change. It is possible to trace ownership of the house back through the 18th century using the Manor of Pirton Court Book, which is indexed, but the earlier documents are on rolls
. During this period the property was owned by absentee landlords who gained ownership through inheritance.  During the 17th century the Collisons, who were yeomen farmers
, owned and lived in the Messuage, which was called Crabbes. There is no record of the house in the rolls between 1603 and 1650, but the first time that the Collisons are recorded in connection with Crabbes is in 1603, when Robert Collison was admitted on the surrender of George Copcot.  The Collisons or their relatives continued to own the property for the next two hundred years showing security of tenure, although it was copyhold. The 1603 admission records that Robert Collison held one tenement with half an acre of pasture and six acres of arable land in the open field.  There was a house on the site.  The ownership by Pirton residents
 continues back to 1553 when the sequence of rolls is broken and there is no earlier record of a house.
This evidence suggests that the house is not part of the great rebuilding, but a modification of an earlier structure. But this does not tie in with the plan or the carpentry.
Rentals
Searching for evidence during the early 17th century was difficult, but two rentals were found for 1610 and 1628
.  The later rental identified Robert Collison as holding one Messuage with six acres of land called Crabbes, with a rent of six shillings.  The 1610 rental only records the land; no house is mentioned. Unfortunately, there are no earlier surviving rental records.
This piece of evidence was particularly helpful as it clearly suggests that it was built after 1610, but before 1628.

 5. Findings of the Study

The evidence gathered on Crabtree House provides answers – with a reasonable level of confidence -- to the three questions posed in the Introduction.

1. Crabtree House was part of the Great Rebuilding.
2. It was part of the first rebuilding.
3. It was newly built and did replace an existing house
6. Conclusions

Obviously the substantiation of the theory for the great rebuilding cannot rest on a case study of a single house, but in later research (not recorded as part of this essay) it was discovered that Pirton doubled in size in the second period of rebuilding after the Civil War. This supports the theory that there were two phases of rebuilding.
More detailed studies of a larger sample of houses, following a similar methodology to that used in this essay, would provide an answer to the wider theory with a greater level of confidence. Such research was beyond the scope of the essay.
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